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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Mr. Scott requests that this Court allow oral argument to help resolve the issues of his 

case. Oral Argument is permitted pursuant to M.R.A.P. 34 and needed to help the understanding 

of Mr. Scott's appeal. 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

Defendant William Scott Raises the following issues on appeal: 

I. The trial judge erred in failing to grant trial counsel's motion to 
withdraw after revealing to the Court that his client had confessed, 
that he believed his client was going to offer false testimony and that 
an unresolveable conflict existed which would prevent counsel from 
being able to effectively represent the Defendant at trial. 

11. The trial court erred in not recusing itself after defense counsel 
inappropriately revealed items of attorney client privilege that were 
prejudicial to the Defendant, thus depriving the Defendant of his due 
process right to a fair trial. 

111. The Defendant was denied both counsel and the right to be present at 
a critical phase of the prosecution when the Court did not allow him to 
be present in chambers during the two Ex Parte hearings in which 
defense counsel acted as a witness against his client by telling the trial 
court that the defendant had confessed to him, that he did not believe 
he could continue to represent him, and that he believed the defendant 
was about to lie on the stand. 

IV. The trial court erred by not entertaining the Defendant's Motion to 
Dismiss for Failure to Grant a Speedy Trial and also for not actually 
dismissing the Defendant's case due to violations of his U S .  
Constitutional right to a speedy trial under the 6th and 14th 
Amendment and Article 11, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. 

V. The Court erred by failing to suppress the alleged statement of the 
Defendant after the State failed to meet its burden of proof under Agee 
by not producing all parties who were witnesses to the custodial 
statement. 

VI. Trial counsel's case preparation, investigation, and trial performance 
were insufficient and thus ineffective, depriving the Defendant of his 



right to effective assistance of counsel when considered cumulatively. 

VII. The trial court erred in not granting a mistrial after the prosecutor 
repeatedly called the defendant a shyster and con artist. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings: 

This is a direct appeal of a non-death penalty capital murder conviction arising from 

indictment number 02-1 149CRG in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. The death 

penalty was not pursued or requested by the prosecution. The underlying crime supporting the 

capital murder indictment is armed robbery by gun. The capital murder conviction came after a 

four day trial at the Hinds County Courthouse in Jackson, Mississippi. The trial occurred from 

March 28,2005 to March 3 1,2005. The Defendant was convicted and sentenced to life in prison 

without parole. 

The underlying indictment alleges that on or about July 9,2002 that the Defendant 

William Scott (hereinafter "Defendant" or "Scott") killed Paula Kay Dinkins while committing 

an armed robbery upon her. Scott was arrested on July 23,2002, two weeks after the robbery 

and shooting which occurred at the Cash Depot on Ellis Avenue in Jackson, Mississippi. The 

Defendant was indicted for capital murder during the September term of the 2002 grand jury in 

the First Judicial District of Hinds County. He never made bail and has been incarcerated ever 

since his initial arrest. Defendant was represented at trial by an Assistant Hinds County Public 

Defender. Subsequent to the trial, the Court appointed separate counsel to prepare the appeal. 



Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues: 

Facts: The Crime 

Paula Dinkins was a clerk at the Cash Depot on Ellis Avenue in Jackson, Mississippi. On 

July 9,2002 the Cash Depot Assistant Manager, Antoine Reed, arrived late for work at 8:46 a.m. 

Antoine Reed found Paula Dinkins on the floor of a back room, apparently dead from a gunshot 

wound. (Tr. 243,255). Antoine Reed saw Paula Dinkins kneeling and unresponsive on the floor 

in front of the Cash Depot safe. The doors to the safe were open and Reed eventually discovered 

that the $2200.00 in cash he had placed in the safe the night before was missing. (Tr. 243-5) 

Sitting in the Cash Depot lobby when Antoine Reed arrived was a customer, Curtis Hearon. (Tr. 

242-3). 

The Jackson Police Department investigation concluded that Paula Dinkins arrived at 

work sometime on the morning she was killed and was the victim of a robberylhomicide. (Tr. 

281). Paula Dinkins' husband, Eddie Dinkins, testified inconsistently with his original statement 

to the police about the time Paula left for work on the morning she was killed. His statement to 

the police on the day she was killed was time specific; she had left around 8:30 or 8:45 a.m. (Tr. 

268). He testified at trial that she left at 8:30 a.m. but may have left much earlier than 8:30 to 

take the kids to summer school, a fact he never previously mentioned to the police. (Tr. 264, 

267-8). The two witnesses at the scene, Assistant Manager Antoine Reed and customer Curtis 

Heron were questioned but were not considered suspects. (Tr. 3 13). Neither Reed nor Heron 

were thought by the police to be present during the shooting. 

Physical evidence at the scene was minimal. One 9mm shell casing was found near Paula 

Dinkins' body. (Tr. 296,299). No projectile was recovered. (Tr. 307). Mark Devries, the 

Emergency Medical Technician in the ambulance that responded to the call, speculated without 



objection that the stage of coagulation of the blood on the Cash Depot floor indicated Dinkins' 

time of death was an hour, or less, before the time of his observation at approximately 9:00 a.m. 

(Tr. 279). 

Upon questioning by police, Latasha Bryant, an employee of the Amoco station next door 

to the Cash Depot, stated that she heard a "loud pop" but did not see anyone that morning. (See 

Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report JPD Officer Samuel). Another Amoco 

employee, Leveda Beverly, stated to police that "she observed a black male come into the store 

[Amoco], sweating [sic] running down his face. The subject asked for a pack of Newport 

cigarettes. The clerk stated that the store didn't have any more. The black male subject left the 

store wearing a pinkish gray and blue pullover shirt in an unknown direction." (See Exhibit A to 

Defendant's Affidavit, Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel). The clerk reported to 

police that the sweating man who came into the store was on video, and gave the tape to Officer 

Samuel who logged the tape into evidence. (See Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, 

Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel). Defense counsel never took the time to view the 

video, tough it was available and in the possession of the state. (See Affidavit of Defendant). 

Another potential witness from whom the police obtained a statement was Mary Holden, 

a past customer of Cash Depot. She happened to walk in front of the Cash Depot on the morning 

of the robbery at about 8:30 to 8:50 a.m. (Tr. 515, and Trial Exhibit 22, Statement of Mary 

Holden). In her statement, she conveyed that she had seen two males leaving the store together 

in a hurry. (Trial Exhibit 22). She knew Assistant Manager Antoine Reed from conducting 

previous check cashing business with him. (Tr. 5 13-4). She did not identify Antoine Reed or 

Curtis Hearon as either of the males she saw leaving the scene in a hurry. Nor did she ever 

identify the Defendant as one of the people she saw leaving in a hurry. 



The information that led to the development of Defendant Scott as a suspect was a 

statement that came from Assistant Manager Antoine Reed to the Jackson Police. Antoine Reed 

told the police that the Saturday before the shooting, Paula Dinkins had told him something 

unusual happened at the store. Paula Dinkins told Antoine Reed that she saw Defendant Scott 

outside the Cash Depot, near an adjacent building, acting strangely. Reed testified at trial that 

Dinkins had told him that the Defendant came into the store and tried to "coerce her outside". 

(Tr. 25 1-4). This incident was never reported to the police. (Tr. 251-2). Reed also testified at 

trial that he saw the Defendant ride by the store on the day of the shooting, but the Defendant did 

not stop. (Tr. 257-8). 

The Jackson Police Department (JPD) located William Scott through the administration 

at Hinds Community College which directed JPD to the Defendant's ex-girlfriend, Tamika 

Wray. (Tr. 314-6). The police interviewed Ms. Wray who stated she and the Defendant had 

broken up and that the Defendant had moved to Georgia. (Tr. 3 16-3 17). Tamika Wray also told 

the police that she had dinner with the Defendant on the night of the shooting and at that time 

saw the Defendant with a large sum of money and a gun in his car. (Tr.520-3). 

Having received his telephone number from Tamika Wray, the police called the 

Defendant in Georgia. The Defendant voluntarily gave JPD his new phone number, address and 

place of employment in Georgia. (Tr. 3 17). Wanting to question the Defendant, JPD contacted 

the Marietta, Georgia Police Department and faxed them some outstanding misdemeanor traffic 

warrants from Rankin County, Mississippi as a pretext for detaining Defendant Scott. (See 

Exhibit C to Affidavit of Defendant). The Marietta Police received the warrants, went to the 

Defendant's place of employment and arrested him on the Rankin County warrants. (Tr. 3 17). 

The Marietta Police arrested him at work. They charged him, after a search of his car incident to 



the arrest on the Mississippi warrants, with having a stolen license plate on his car and 

possessing an altered social security card. (Tr. 461-2). Neither the validity of the warrants nor 

the pretextual procedure used to detain the Defendant for questioning were ever challenged or 

objected to during the trial phase. 

Detectives Denson and White, the two Jackson Police Detectives who caused the Rankin 

County traffic warrants to be forwarded to Georgia, drove to Georgia to interview the Defendant 

regarding the death of Paula Dinkins. (Tr. 318). They interviewed him in the Cobb County Jail 

on July 24,2002. (Pretrial Motion Exhibit 22, Trial Exhibit S-8). The Detectives purport that 

Scott gave a statement in which he admitted his guilt in the'robbery/shooting. (Tr. 318-340 and 

Trial Exhibit S-8). The Defendant testified that he did talk to the detectives in the Cobb County 

Jail, but that he did not admit to having robbed or killed Paula Dinkins. (Tr. 93-4, 113-4). He 

testified that the hand-written initials on the statement were not his and that only portions of the 

contents of the statement were made during the interview. (Tr. 436). The Defendant testified 

that he did not have time to read statement during the police interview. (Tr. 113). 

Facts: Pretrial and Trial Proceedings: 

After his arrest, Defendant was appointed a lawyer from the Hinds County Public 

Defender's Office. Defendant Scott came to feel that his case was not being handled in a way 

that preserved his rights or protected his legal interest so he began to file his own Pro Se motions 

and wrote letters to the Court about the concerns he had about his attorney's performance and 

case investigation. (See RE p. 1-7, Docket Sheet Indicating Letters to Court from Defendant, 

Defendant's Affidavit, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, Letters to Court from 

Defendant). Defendant wrote to the Mississippi Bar Association and copied the trial court 

concerning the perceived deficiencies in his representation. (See Exhibit B to Defendant's 



Affidavit, Letters to Court from Defendant). He had specifically asked his attorney to investigate 

certain aspects of his case and his attorney refused to do the investigation or to undertake the 

steps requested. (See Tr. 8, Affidavit of Defendant, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, 

Letters to Court). 

The most critical failure in the investigation of the case is trial counsel's failure to 

attempt to view the previously described video tape form the Amoco next door to the Cash 

Depot. Defendant Scott was told by his attorney that he simply did not have time to go view the 

tape.. .a tape which was described by the witnesses to contain footage of someone who may have 

been a suspect in the case. (See Affidavit of Defendant and Exhibit A to Defendant's Affidavit, 

Supplemental Report of JPD Officer Samuel). 

The Defendant's motions and communications with the Court reveal that there appears to 

have been a total breakdown in the attomey/client relationship. These communications and Pro 

Se motions are the reason some of the issues of ineffective counsel are raised in this brief when 

they might normally be found in a Petition for PCR . Ordinarily, these issues might not be part 

of the apparent record. Out of an abundance of caution, appellate counsel raises these issues 

since they may be considered apparent from the record, to a degree, from the Defendant's 

Letters and Pro Se motions to the court. Long before trial, Defendant Scott points out to the 

trial court that there is a problem with his relationship with his attorney. (See Defendant's 

Affidavit, and Exhibit B to Defendant's Affidavit, Letters to Court ). Prior to the beginning of 

the trial, counsel informed the trial court that he too wanted off of the case because there was a 

conflict that prevented counsel form being able adequately to represent the Defendant. Counsel 

asked several times to be relieved as the Defendant's attorney. 



Shockingly, defense counsel revealed to the court in detail how the Defendant had 

allegedly confessed the crime to him and how the rules of professional conduct and ethical 

cannons prohibited counsel from calling his client to the stand or asking him questions. (Tr. 7- 

15, and Sealed In Chambers Hearing #1 pp. 1-1 1). More puzzling is that after this hearing, 

defense counsel proceeded to put his client on the stand and actively question him during a 

suppression hearing. (Tr. 92-101). 

Defendant vehemently denies that he ever confessed or admitted his guilt to his attorney, 

or anyone else for that matter. (See Affidavit of Defendant). Defendant was not allowed to be 

present to defend himself during the two sealed in chambers hearings where trial counsel told the 

court that the Defendant had confessed to him. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing kt1 pp. 1-1 1 and 

See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1-4). 

After the state rested but before the defense presented its case, defense counsel again told 

the trial court in a closed chambers hearing that an untenable conflict existed, that he could not 

fairly represent the Defendant, that he could not call his client to the stand or examine him and 

that substitute counsel should be appointed. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1-4). Trial 

counsel again revealed to the court that he believed the Defendant was going to offer perjured 

testimony. (See Sealed In Chambers Hearing #2 pp. 1- 2). 

Immediately after telling the court for the third time that he needed to withdraw due to 

ethical dictates stemming from his belief his client would offer false testimony, defense counsel 

called the defendant to the stand and conducted a detailed direct examination. (Tr. 412-450). 



SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The most troublesome error in this trial springs from the incredible exchanges that took 

place between defense counsel and the court in chambers. Defense counsel, in no equivocal or 

vague terms told the judge that his client had outright admitted to the murder and robbery and 

that because of this admission, defense counsel could not effectively represent the client. The 

judge denied counsel's request to withdraw. A request for substitute counsel came independently 

from the Defendant who felt that his lawyer was ignoring reasonable requests of investigation, 

reasonable requests for motions and not developing the trial strategy that he was suggesting. The 

requests for substitute counsel were made well in advance of trial. 

The first three assignments of error have to do with this ethical morass. The trial court 

should have granted the defense request to give the Defendant another lawyer. Anytime a lawyer 

is put into a position of being adverse to his client by making the ultimate breach of client 

confidence, divulging a confession to a homicide, it is time to allow the that lawyer to leave the 

case. A client cannot be adequately represented at trial by an attorney who has been compelled 

to divulge this type of confidence to the judge hearing the case. 

The second assignment of error stems from defense counsel's revelation of the alleged 

confession and the effect it had on the trial court. As the trier of fact on suppression and 

evidentiary issues, the court was irretrievably tainted by learning from defense counsel that there 

had been an alleged admission of guilt within the sacrosanct confines of an attorney/client 

communication. The judge should have stepped aside and allowed an impartial judge to hear the 

issues of fact and law. 

Third, the Defendant was not allowed to be present when his lawyer told the judge that 

the Defendant had admitted to the murder. This is a two fold problem of denial of counsel at a 



critical stage and denial of the Defendant's ability to assert the attomey/client privilege. To 

illustrate, the defense attorney was essentially a witness against the defendant in an in chambers 

hearing. The defendant was not present at this in chambers hearing. A procedure that excludes a 

defendant from a hearing between the a judge and a witness adverse to the defendant would be 

unacceptable. Certainly, a defense lawyer telling a judge in chambers that his client has admitted 

to capital murder is an adverse witness to the Defendant. He cannot be considered to be both 

representing his client and condemning him at the same time. At that moment, the defendant 

was without counsel and unable to assert his privilege. Again, the lawyer and judge should have 

stepped back from the case. 

Fourth, the Defendant had filed a timely motion to dismiss for failure to provide a speedy 

trial and asserted it again on the morning of trial. The trial court refused to entertain the motion 

at any point in the proceedings. The Defendant has squarely prevailed on the four Barker tests. 

The prosecution never rebutted or even addressed the motion. The only statement made by the 

court was on the morning of trial: "the court is going to give you a speedy trial making your 

motion for a speedy trial moot". (Tr. 9). This process fails constitutional review and demands 

reversal. 

Fifth, the court did not suppress the statement of the Defendant made to police shortly 

after his original detention. There were witnesses present at points in the statement , including a 

notary who witnessed his signature, which were not produced by the state at the suppression 

hearing. No constitutionally acceptable reason for the witnesses' absence was provided. 

Sixth, defense counsel provided deficient representation of the Defendant, amounting to 

constitutional ineffectiveness. Defendant requests a remand for evidentiary hearing on this issue. 

Some of the issues of ineffectiveness are; Trial counsel did not object to the pretextual arrest of 



the Defendant which led to evidence that would have been fruit of the poisonous tree. Counsel 

did not investigate the Defendant's alibi or interview witnesses to the crime. Counsel did not 

attempt to view a piece of video tape evidence from a business adjacent to the crime scene which 

was in the custody of the police that may have had footage of the real killer. Counsel failed to 

move to suppress or to object to other crimes evidence. (Defendants Affidavit is Attached as 

Appendix 1 to this Brief). 

The final assignment of error concerns inflammatory statements by the prosecutor during 

closing argument: to which defense counsel,.unfortunately,.did not object. An exception to the 

rule requiring objection is asserted herein. 

For these reasons and the rationale provided below, the Defendant moves this Court for 

reversal and discharge or in the alternative, a new trial. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The trial judge erred in failing to grant trial counsel's motion to 
withdraw after divulging to the Court that his client had confessed, 
that he believed his client was going to offer false testimony, and that 
an nnresolveable conflict existed which would prevent counsel from 
being able to effectively represent the Defendant at trial. 

Attorneys' Duties: It is the duty of attorneys .... (4).To maintain inviolate the 
confidence and, at every peril to themselves, to preserve the secrets of their clients; 

5 73-3-37, MCA. Emphasis Added 

In an a criminal trial where trial counsel believes his client will offer false testimony from 

the witness stand, that lawyer has a duty to counsel his client not to lie under oath. If that fails, 

the lawyer should inform the Court only that trial counsel is required to move to withdraw. No 

client confidences should be revealed. See § 73-3-37, MCA. The lawyer should be allowed to 

withdraw if it is apparent that he cannot properly represent his client 



We start with the basic proposition that where under these circumstances, 
counsel informs the fact-finder of his belief [that his client was lying] he has by 
that action disabled the fact-finder from judging the merits of the defendant's 
defense. Further, he has by his action openly placed himself in opposition to 
his client upon her defense. The consequences of such action on the part of 
counsel in our judgment are such as to deprive defendant of a fair trial. 575 
F.2d at 730. 

If such reasoning applied in Lowery, which merely involved the fact 
finder's drawing an inference from the lawyer's conduct, it obviously applies with 
even greater force in the present case, where the lawyer denounced his client in 
open court as a liar. How can a trial be called fair when the defendant's own 
attorney is attacking him? 

Ferguson v. State, 507 So.2d 94, (Miss. 1987). Emphasis Added. 

In the case at bar, there had been at least six requests for trial counsel to be relieved as 

counsel. Three by the Defendant, beginning with a Motion for Substitution of Court Appointed 

Counsel filed on June 7,2004, renewed by supplemental Motion on February 2,2005 and 

renewed again by the Defendant on the day of his trial. (See Tr. 7-8; RE 54-63, Motion and 

Amended Motions for Substitution of Court'Appointed Coksel). 

Trial counsel also made three requests. The first on March 22, 2005 by written Motion to 

Withdraw. (RE 141-146). The second two requests were made orally. The first oral request 

was made the morning trial began and the second oral request was made after the state rested, 

but before the Defendant testified. (See RE 141-146, Motion to Withdraw; lS' Sealed In 

Chambers Conference Transcript, pp 1-1 1; and 2nd Sealed In Chambers Conference Transcript, 

All of these requests to substitute counsel were denied because the court believed that the 

Defendant would run into this conflict, caused by the ~efendant "confessing" to his attorney, 

with any attorney who represented him in the future. (Tr. 16, In. 5). Meaning, that even if the 

court appointed a new attorney, the Defendant could again manipulate the system and delay by 



"confessing" to his attorney. The Defendant was never queried about this issue. The Defendant 

denies that he confessed to his attorney. (See Affidavit of Defendant, 7 23.) Since he was not 

allowed to attend the in chambers proceedings, he only first learned about his trial lawyer's 

incriminating revelations to the judge when the sealed transcripts were unsealed for this direct 

appeal. (See Affidavit of Defendant, 7 23.) 

The presumption of the court, that this trap of delay and manipulation would befall any 

lawyer appointed in the future, was contradicted by trial counsel's statement in the lSt Sealed In 

Chambers Hearing: 

By Trial Counsel: And I have talked to him so extensively. He's even said, well 
I shouldn't have told you ...... He will never tell another lawyer that he did it 
again. He knows that. And withotit that, the coliflict is not there. I mean it 
took that for me to get here. 

(1" Sealed In Chambers Conference Transcript, pp 4-5). 

Counsel went further to assure the court that he thought the Defendant was not trying to 

play the system by stating : 

By Trial Counsel: And then in closing when I don't even mention what he says, 
there's no doubt there's prejudice to him. The question is, is this a -I think he 
didn't know about these Canons until I showed him. 

I think this time he may not have been trying to work the system 
because I've gone over with him, I've got feelings and that- 

(1" Sealed In Chambers Conference Transcyipt, p. 9). 

These statements by trial counsel should have been sufficient to assuage the court's fear 

that the Defendant was merely trying to manipulate the system. Simply appointing a new 

attorney coupled with counseling the Defendant that no further substitutions of counsel would be 

made would have protected the Defendant's right to counsel, his right to present his theory of 

defense and to right to have non adversarial counsel present to represent him 



The fact that the Defendant could not receive a fair trial without assistance from 

counsel became apparent during the Defendant's trial testimony. Court and counsel had 

agreed that in order to avoid the ethical dilemma that faced trial counsel, he should not 

ask the Defendant any questions on direct examination. Trial counsel said to the court: 

"I can't ask him any questions. I can't assist him." (1'' Sealed In Chambers Conference 

Transcript, p. 5). 

However, the Defendant's need for guidance from counsel became so apparent 

during his testimony that, contrary to what had been discussed so urgently earlier, 

Defense counsel began to conduct a direct examination of the Defendant. (Tr. 412-450). 

In fact the court participated in instructing defense counsel how to question the 

Defendant during his testimony to the jury. (Tr. 425,433). 

Despite his several earlier protests, trial counsel conducted a partial examination 

of the Defendant that included questions such as: "Did you kill Paula Dinkins"; "Did you 

know Paula"; "Did you point a firearm at Ms. Dinkins"; "Did you rob the Cash Depot." 

(Tr. 439-442). It seems at least a possibility that at some point, counsel's conviction that 

his client was lying abated and he decided that it was appropriate for him to question his 

client. No explanation for this change of heart was ever given. 

This change of tactics at trial leaves two possibilities. Counsel either decided on 

the spur of the moment that his client was no longer presenting a false defense or, he 

violated the ethical canons that he had previously attempted to invoke to remove himself 

from the case. In either case, a dark shadow is cast on the adequacy of the Defendant's 

representation at trial. The Defendant was effectively denied counsel at trial, evidenced 



by the ultimately adversarial role the attorney occupied after divulging an alleged 

confession to capital murder to the court. 

In this instance, the Defendant was denied his due process rights to a fair trial, due 

process right to present a defense and right to counsel, all under the 5'h, 6th and 141h 

Amendments of the U S .  Constitution and those corollary rights under the Mississippi 

Constitution. 

11. The trial court erred in not recusing itself after defense counsel - 
inappropriately revealed items of attorney client privilege that were 
prejudicial to the Defendant, depriving the Defendant of his due 
process right to a fair trial. 

It was inappropriate for trial counsel to state to the court that the Defendant had confessed 

the murder to him. This statement completely removed the trial court's ability to impartially rule 

on the Defendant's Motion to Suppress and any other evidentiary motions of the Defendant. 

Having been so advised by counsel, the court should have recused itself before ruling on any of 

the defendant's pre-trial motions, 

Strickland itself recognizes that a lawyer has a duty to represent his client not 
only with diligence but with loyalty. Strickland v. Washington, 466 US .  668, 
688, 104 S.Ct. 2052,2065,80 L.Ed.2d 674,694 (1984). See also, Anders v. 
California, 386 U S .  738,744,87 S.Ct. 1396, 1400, 18 L.Ed.2d 493,498 (1967); 
U S .  v. Alvarez, 580 F.2d 1251, 1256 (5th Cir.1978). No more devastating 
breach of this duty can be imagined than for a lawyer to denounce his client 
before the trier of fact as untruthful. 

Ferguson v. State, 507 So.2d 94,97 (Miss.1987). Emphasis Added. 

In the Ferguson case, the Judge was the trier of fact on all issues, including guilt. 

Although there was a jury in the case at hand, Ferguson still applies because the trial court was 

the trier of fact on Defendant Scott's pretrial motions, evidentiary issues and motion for directed 



verdict. Mississippi jurisprudence holds that a court sitting on a motion to suppress is considered 

a trier of fact: 

The trial judge heard this testimony and, in declining to suppress the 
confession, found the testimony of Officer Marlett to be credible, and that of the 
defense witnesses incredible. The resolution of issues of credibility is the 
province of the trier of fact. Hester v. State 753 So.2d 463(1 
24)(Miss.Ct.App.1999). In a suppression hearing, that trier of fact is the trial 
judge. 

Jackson v. State, 778 So.2d 786 (Miss App. 2001). 

Prior to considering the Defendant's motions, trial counsel had twice informed the court 

of his belief that the Defendant would offer false testimony from the stand; once in an in-court 

motion that took place before the court staff and prosecutor, and once in an in chambers 

conference (Tr. 10-15; and 1'' In Chambers Hearing Transcript, pp. 1-11). 

By Trial Counsel: ... The situation I have here is I have been told directly 
by my client that he committed the crime and that he intends to take the witness 
stand and provide alibi witnesses ..... 

(See lSt Sealed In Chambers Hearing Transcript, p. 1, in. 20). 

The trial court should have allowed counsel to withdraw without further explanation or 

divulging attorneylclient confidences. 

The court may wish an explanation of the withdrawal, while the lawyer may be 
bound to keep confidential the facts that would constitute such an explanation. 
The lawyer's statement that professional considerations require termination 
of the representation ordinarily should be accepted as sufficient. 

Comment to Rule 1.16, Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct. Emphasis Added 

Before considering the testimony of the detectives and the testimony of the Defendant in 

the Motion to Suppress Defendant's Statement, the court's objectivity had been removed by the 

statements of trial counsel about his client's admission of guilt. Once this had been revealed, 



there was no possibility that the court could objectively rule on whether the Defendant's 

statements were freely, voluntarily and knowingly given. This effectively denied the Defendant's 

th th federal and state constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process under the 5 , 6 and 14" 

Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and those corollary rights under the Mississippi 

Constitution. 

111. The Defendant was denied both counsel and the right to be present at  
a critical phase of the prosecution when the Court did not ailow him 
to be present in chambers during the two Ex Parte hearings in which 
defense counsel acted as a witness against his client by telling the trial 
court that the defendant had confessed to him, that he did not believe 
he could continue to represent him, and that he believed the defendant 
was about to lie on the stand. 

A defendant is entitled to counsel and entitled to be present at all critical stages of 

prosecution. When trial counsel asked to address the court Ex Parte, in chambers, the defendant 

was not allowed to be present to defend himself from the condemnation of his own lawyer. 

In Chase v. State, 699 So.2d 521,534 (Miss.1997) (quoting Kentucb v. Stincer, 
482 US .  730,745, 107 S.Ct. 2658,2667,96 L.Ed.2d 631 (1987)) this Court 
stated that "a criminal defendant 'is guaranteed the right to be present at  any 
stage of the criminal proceedings that is critical to its outcome if his presence 
would contribute to the fairness of the procedure.' " 

Davis v. State, 767 So.2d 986 (Miss. 2000). Emphasis Added 

The Defendant was not allowed to be present during the two in chambers hearings where 

defense counsel divulged to the court that the Defendant had allegedly admitted his guilt to 

defense counsel and that the Defendant was going to offer false evidence during his testimony to 

the jury. (See lS' Sealed In Chambers Hearing Transcript, and 2nd In Chambers Hearing 

Transcript). Defendant denies that he ever made these statements to his trial counsel. (See 

Defendant's Affidavit). 



Because of the Defendant's absence, he was unable to deny his lawyer's claims or assert 

his right to the protections of the attorneylclient privilege. Since his trial lawyer was the one 

breaching the attorneylclient privilege, the Defendant was harmed two-fold. First, by effectively 

being rendered without counsel and second, not being present or having someone present on his 

behalf to invoke the attorney client privilege at this critical stage. 

Critical stage bas been defined by this Court as "any confrontation in 
which the results might affect the course of the later trial and in which the 
presence of counsel might avert prejudice at trial." Ormond v. State, 599 So.2d 
951, 956 (Miss.1992) (citing Coleman v. State, 592 So.2d 517, 520 (Miss.1991)). 

Burns v. State, 729 So.2d 203 (Miss. 1998). 

Defendant asserts that the Ex Parte hearing in which his attorney violated the 

attorneylclient privilege by revealing an alleged confession of the Defendant was a critical stage. 

Counsel effectively became a witness testifying against his client to the court. The court was just 

about to sit as the trier of fact on pretrial evidentiary and suppression issues. It would have been 

improper for any witness, lawyer or not, to come before the court and relay an alleged confession 

outside of the presence of the Defendant 

The trial court's interview of a witness to a confession to murder satisfies the 

"confrontation" requirement of the definition of a critical stage. The second element is whether 

"the presence of counsel might avert prejudice at trial." Ormond v. State, 599 So.2d 95 1,956 

(Miss.1992) (citing Coleman v. State, 592 So.2d 517, 520 (Miss.1991)). Had the Defendant had 

effective, non-adverse legal counsel at the in chambers hearings, counsel could have denied the 

statements on behalf of the Defendant, invoked the attorneylclient privilege for the defendant or 

advised the Defendant to deny the statements or to invoke the privilege himself. 



The prejudicial statements of trial counsel coupled with the inability of the Defendant to 

assert the attomeylclient privilege, or deny the statements, deprived him of counsel at a critical 

phase in the proceedings. Thus he was deprived of his Federal and State rights to due process 

th fh and the assistance of counsel under the 5 , 6  and 141h Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and 

those corollary rights under the Mississippi Constitution. 

IV. The trial court erred by noientertainiq the Defendant's Motion to 
Dismiss for Failure to Grant a Speedy Trial and also for not actually 
dismissing the Defendant's case due to violations of his US. 
Constitutional right to a speedy trial under the 6th and 14th 
Amendment and Article 11, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. 

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution insures all persons a right to a 

speedy trial. The Sixth Amendment applies to the State of Mississippi by way of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. Klopler v. State of North Carolina, 386 US.  213, 

222-23 n.6 (1967). This is a fundamental right that clearly triggers due process. Barker v. 

Wingo, 407 U.S. 514,515 (1972). 

The right to a speedy trial is not a theoretical or  abstract right but 
one rooted in hard reality in the need to have charges promptly 
exposed. If the case for the prosecution calls on the accused to meet 
charges rather than rest on the infirmities of the prosecution's case, 
as is the defendant's right, the time to meet them is when the case is 
fresh. State claims have never been favored by the law, and far less 
so in criminal cases. 

Dickey v. Florida, 398 U.S. 30, 37-38 (1970) (emphasis supplied) (footnotes omitted). 

Additionally, Article I11 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 insures an accused 

person a right to a speedy trial. See Ross v. State, 605 So.2d 17,21 (Miss. 1992). 

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "the right [of a speedy trial] attaches at the 

time of the accused's arrest, indictment or information." Id. "Under Mississippi law a delay of 

eight months ispresumptivelyprejudicial." Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis supplied) 



The United States Supreme Court established four factors that must be addressed when 

analyzing a speedy trial violation. Barker v. Wingo, 407 US.  514, 530 (1972). Here, the trial 

court did not even attempt examine the Barker factors. In fact, the only mention of the 

Defendant's speedy trial rights was between the Defendant himself and the trial Court. Scott's 

counsel never aided him in this issue. The conversation regarding the Defendant's speedy trial 

rights went as follows: 

The Court: Now, you are free to hire you an attorney and have who 
you want. But I'm not going to pick and choose in the 
Public Defender's Office somebody that you like. I'll have 
an individual that is competent to represent you. 

Mr. Knapp has represented many defendants and did 
represent one this morning that's also charged with the 
same thing that you are charged with. 

Now, he may not do what you want him to do, but that's 
life. People don't do what I want them to do. 

The motion before the Court is a motion to withdraw. And 
then you had a speedy trial motion where you didn't 
want to go - -you wanted a speedy trial but you didn't 
want the attorney. 

The Court is going to deny the motion to withdraw. 
Mr. Knapp has been told he needs to prepare for trial. 
And the Court is going to give you a speedy trial 
making your motion for a speedy trial moot. 

(Trial Tr. p. 9) (emphasis supplied). 

This is the only consideration that thk trial court gave to the Defendant's Motion to 

Dismiss for Lack of a Speedy Trial. Defendant's appointed counsel at no time inquired about 

the issue nor did he request the trial court address the Barker factors. The trial court did not ask 

the State any questions about what good cause it had for delaying the trial. It was error for the 

Court to deny the Motion to Dismiss without providing him a hearing on the Barker factors. It 



denied him due process. Since the trial Court did not address the issues, the issues are 

individually briefed below. 

A. Standard of Review 

Since the trial court did not provide a hearing on the Barker factors then this Court must 

proceed de novo. State v .  Ferguson, 576 So.2d 1252, 1255 (Miss. 1991). 

B. All four Barker factors weigh in favor of Mr. Scott and require his dismissal 
with prejudice. 

A decision regarding an accused's speedy trial rights is made reviewing the totality of the 

circumstances. See Barker at 530; and Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1106 (Miss. 2002) 

holding "[nlo one factor is dispositive of the question. Instead the totality of the circumstances is 

considered." The factors to be addressed are: "(1) length of delay; (2) reason for the delay; (3) 

whether the defendant has asserted his right to a speedy trial; (4) whether the defendant was 

prejudiced by the delay." Birkley v. State, 750 So.2d 1245, 1249 (Miss. 1999) quoting Barker, 

407 U.S. at 530. 

1. Length of Delay 

Mr. Scott was arrested on July 23,2002, indicted on December 20,2002, and his case 

finally went to trial on March 28,2005. According to the record there were three continuances 

entered. The first continuance was granted on April 21,2003, the second was granted on July 14, 

2003 and the third was granted on January 19,2004. The trial court set a trial date of March 28, 

2005 by Order on November 5,2004. A total of nine hundred forty-nine (949) days passed from 

the time Mr. Scott was arrested until his trial date. There were three continuances entered that 

are attributable to the Defendant that encompass the time span from April 21,2003 until 

November 5,2004. This means that the delay attributable to the State was three hundred ninety- 

two (392) days. 



Since over twelve months passed between the time of his arrest and his trial date, this 

passage of time is presumptively prejudicial according to Ross and numerous other Mississippi 

Supreme Court decisions. 

This first factor weighs in favor of Mr. Scott and agginst the State and required the trial 

court to assess the other factors. No analysis was done and this failure resulted in a violation of 

Mr. Scott's Sixth Amendment and State Constitutional right to a speedy trial. 

2. Reason for Delay 

The second factor is the reason for delay. In this case there is no reason at all for the 

delay. At no time did the State explain the reason for the delay, attributable to it, to the trial 

court or to Mr. Scott. No good cause exists and the following explains this Court's duty when no 

"probative evidence" exists to support such a finding: 

Review of a speedy trial claim encompasses the fact question of 
whether the trial delay rose from good cause. Under this Court's 
standard of review, this Court will uphold a decision based on 
substantial, credible evidence; if no probative evidence supports the 
trial court'sfinding of good cause, this Court will ordinarily reverse. 
Folk v. State, 576 So.2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991). The state bears the 
burden of proving good cause for a speedy trial delay, and thus bears 
the risk of non-persuasion. Flores v. State, 574 So.2d 1314, 1318 
(Miss. 1990); Vickeryv. State, 535 So.2d 1371, 1377 (Miss. 1988); 
Beavers v. State, 498 So.2d 788, 791 (Miss. 1986); Perry v. State, 419 
So.2d 194, 199 (Miss. 1982). 

Ross V .  State, 605 So.2d 17,21 (Miss. 1992) (emphasis supplied). The State never explained the 

reason for the delay and the trial court never probed the State for the reason causing the delay. 

As such, the State failed to meet their burden for providing'a good cause reason for delaying Mr. 

Scott's trial for over twelve (12) months. "Where the accused has not caused the delay, and 

where the prosecution has failed to show good cause therefore, this factor weighs in favor of the 

accused." State v. Ferguson, 576 So.2d 1252, 1254 (Miss. 1991) citing Handley v. State, 574 



So.2d 671, 676 (Miss. 1990); Trotter v. stat;, 554 So.2d 3r3, 317 (Miss. 1989); Smith v. State, 

550 So.2d 406,409 (Miss. 1989); Perry v. State, 419 So.2d 194, 199 (Miss. 1982). 

The prosecution has shown no good cause at all, thus failing to meet its burden. The 

Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "[wlhere the record is silent regarding the reason for 

delay, as the record is silent here, the clock ticks against the State because the State bears the risk 

ofnon-persuasion on the good cause issue." Vickery v. State, 535 So.2d 1371, 1375 (Miss. 

1988) (emphasis supplied). See also Brengettcy v. State, 794 So.2d 987,993 (Miss. 2001); 

Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1106 (Miss. 2002); and Riley v. State, 855 So.2d 1004, 1009 

(Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Indeed, the record is silent as to the reason that the trial was delayed for 

over twelve months. If the record is silent then how can the trial court's denial of Mr. Scott's 

motion to dismiss have been based on "probative evidence" supporting good cause? The answer 

is that no "probative evidence" exists and this Court must reverse. Since the record is silent this 

factor must weigh in favor of Mr. Scott and against the State. 

3. Assertion of a Speedy Trial Right 

The third Barker factor requires a determination of whether Mr. Scott asserted his right to 

a speedy trial. He filed two separate Motions to Dismiss Based on Speedy Trial Violation. Mr. 

Scott, without help from trial counsel, wrote a Motion to Dismiss that is compiled in the record. 

(RE at 81 and 116, Defendant's Motions to Dismiss Based on Speedy Trial Violation). In one 

Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Scott referenced a prior Motion written on June 7,2004 asking the trial 

court to substitute his trial counsel. In that June 7'h Motion, Defendant asserted the following: 

''Scott is prepared to go to trial." (RE at p. 59) (emphasis supplied). He hand wrote this motion 

himself without the help of trial counsel. This is clearly an assertion of his readiness to go to 

trial and request that he be placed on the trial docket. This request was made pro se and should 



be given the credit of asserting his speedy trial rights. He certainly did not waive this right. He 

asserted it in the only fashion that he, as a layperson, knew how. See Harvey v. Stone County 

School Dist., 862 So.2d 545, 551 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) holding "pleadings filed by pro se 

litigants are to be held 'to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers.' 

Quoting Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519,529 (1972). 

Even if the Defendant had not brought the trial Court's attention to his speedy trial 

violation the issue is not waived. See Barker, 407 at 528 holding that "[wle reject, therefore, the 

rule that a defendant who fails to demand a speedy trial forever waives his right." This Court has 

held it will "indulge every reasonable presumption against the waiver of a constitutional right." 

Vickery v. State, 535 So.2d 1371, 1377 (Miss.1988) (quoting Aetna Ins. Co. v. Kennedy, 301 US.  

389,393 (1937). This factor must be weighed in favor of the Defendant as there is absolutely no 

evidence that requires this factor to be weighed in favor of the State. Especially since the State 

never filed a response to Mr. Scott's Motion to Dismiss Based on Speedy Trial Violation and 

remained silent when the trial court addressed the motion on March 28,2005. 

4. Preiudice 

Somewhere in the past thirty years the prejudice factor in the balancing test has 

taken on a life of its own. Better yet, perhaps it is more accurate to say that this factor seems to 

trump all others, when in fact the four (4) Barker factors should be considered together. In 

essence, the Mississippi appellate courts have given this factor more credence than any other 

factor. The balancing test set forth in Barker requires that this Court make a determination on 

the "totality of the circumstances." Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1106 (Miss. 2002). 

The final Barker factor is whether the Defendant was prejudiced by the delay. As stated 

in Ross, supra, a delay of more than eight months is presumptively prejudicial. The United 



States Supreme Court has held that "affirmative proof of particularized prejudice is not essential 

to every speedy trial claim." Dogget v. US., 505 US.  647,655 (1992). However, the actual 

prejudice that Mr. Scott has experienced is overwhelming. "[Tlhe presumption that pretrial 

delay has prejudiced the accused intensifies over time." Id. at 652. 

In this case Scott set forth the following forms of actual prejudice in his motion to the 

Court. First, Mr. Scott was unable to locate witnesses in his case. (See, Motion for Speedy Trial, 

signed by the Defendant, RE at 81 & 116). This is a fact admitted several times by defense 

counsel. (Tr. 17-26, and 1" Sealed In Chambers Hearing, p 7-9). Second, Mr. Scott experienced 

anxiety and concern. (See, Motion for Speedy Trial, signed by the Defendant, RE 86 & 116). 

Third, Mr. Scott was not able to work at this time and, at the time he was arrested, he did have 

employment in Atlanta, Georgia. (See, Motion for Speedy Trial, signed by the Defendant, R E  at 

86 & 1 16). Fourth, he was prevented from attending college. He was enrolled to begin at Hinds 

Community College in the Fall of 2002. (See, Motion for Speedy Trial, signed by the Defendant, 

RE. at 86 & 116). Fifth, he was taken away from his mother and child who resided in another 

state. (See, Motionfor Speedy Trial, signed by the Defendant, R E  at 86 & 116). 

The Defendant provided five forms of prejudice to the trial Court on March 10,2005. He 

did this without the help of his trial counsel. The State never responded to this motion and the 

trial court did not address these factors when deciding whether to grant or deny the Defendant's 

motion to dismiss. The State's silence is equivalent to a confession of the issue! 

"[Tlhe State actually has to show lack ofprejudice in order toprevail on this factor." 

Jasso v. State, 655 So.2d 30, 35 (Miss. 1995) (emphasis supplied) quoting State v. Ferguson, 576 

So.2d 1252, 1255 (Miss. 1991), citing Moore v. Arizona, 414 U S .  25,26 (1973). See also the 

Court of Appeal's ruling in Biggs v. State, 741 So.2d 318, 330 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) holding that 



"[a] defendant does not bear the burden ofproving actual prejudice. When the length of the 

delay is presumptively prejudicial, the burden ofpersuasion is on the State to show that the delay 

did notprejudice the defendant". (Emphasis supplied). The State was silent. Since the State 

never said one single word, then there is nothing in the record to support an appellate court's 

ruling that the State met its burden. This factor weighs in favor of the Defendant and against the 

State. It certainly cannot weigh in favor of the State when it did and said nothing! 

A local federal district court has held "'where the delay is not only excessive but the 

result of unexcused inaction or misconduct by the Government, it is prima facie prejudicial' and 

the burden thus shifts to the government to demonstrate that the defendant was not prejudiced." 

US.  v. Rogers, 781 F.Supp. 1181, 11 89 (S.D. Miss. 1991) quoting Murray v. Washington, 450 

F.2d 465,471 (5th Cir. 1971). The delay is excessive and no excuse exists in the record to 

provide the State with evidence to overcome this burden. The State never once addressed the 

Defendant's prejudice in the Record. Mr. Scott's prejudices, both presumptive and actual, have 

been amply proved and this Court should, by case law, weigh this factor in favor of the 

Defendant. 

Alternatively, dismissal is proper without even determining prejudice because the first 

three factors weigh heavily in favor of the accused and prejudice is "totally irrelevant." U S .  v. 

Rogers, 781 FSupp. 1181, 1189 (S.D. Miss. 1991). In Rogers, Judge Tom Lee held: 

Indeed, there can come a point where the first three factors are so heavily 
weighed against the government that prejudice, either actual or 
presumed, becomes totally irrelevant. Citing U S .  v. Avalos, 541 F.2d 
1100, 11 13 (5th Cir. 1976) quoting Hoskins v. Wainwright, 485 F.2d 
1186, 1192 (5th Cir. 1973); see also U S .  v. Dennard, 722 F.2d 1510, 
15 13 (I 1 th Cir. 1984) (well settled that when first three Barker factors 
weigh heavily against government, defendant need not demonstrate 
actual prejudice). . . 



Id at 1 189. Mr. Rogers' trial was delayed for 14 months and Judge Lee ultimately held that Mr. 

Rogers' constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated. 

Mr. Scott has shown this Court that the State has not met its burden of producing 

"substantial, credible evidence" to support any finding of "good cause" delay. As stated in Ross 

above "if no probative evidence supports the trial court's finding of good cause, this Court will 

ordinarily reverse." Citing Folk v. State. A constitutional speedy trial violation exists in this 

case and no evidence suggests that good cause existed to delay Mr. Scott's trial for over twelve 

(12) months. As such "the sole remedy is to reverse the trial court's decision and dismiss the 

charges." Ross at 21, citing Strunk v. UnitedStates, 412 U.S. 434,439-440,93 S.Ct. 2260,2263, 

37 L.Ed.2d 56,61 (1973); Barker, 407 US .  at 522,92 S.Ct. at 2188,33 L.Ed.2d 101, Bailey v 

State, 463 So.2d 1059, 1064 (Miss. 1985); Turner v. State, 383 So.2d 489 (Miss. 1980); Perry, 

41 9 So.2d at 197. "Such a remedy is more serious than an exclusionary rule or a reversal for 

a new trial, but it is the onlypossible remedy." Barker, 407 U S .  at 522 (footnote omitted) 

(emphasis supplied). A constitutional speedy trial violation has occurred here. As quoted above, 

the "only" remedy is to dismiss the charges against Mr. Scott. 

C. EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

Alternatively, Mr. Scott requests that this Court act in accordance with Barnes v. State, 

577 So.2d 840,844 (Miss. 1991) and Jasso v. State, 655 So.2d 30,35 (Miss. 1995) and remand 

the case for an evidentiary hearing on the Barker factors since he was not given a proper hearing 

by the trial court. 



V. The Court erred by failing to suppress the alleged statement of the 
Defendant after the State failed to meet its burden of proof under 
Agee by not producing all parties who were witnesses to the custodial 
statement. 

On the morning of trial, a motion to suppress the Defendant's alleged confession was 

held. (Tr. 3 1-121). Testimony showed that two officers from the Jackson Police Department 

drove to Marietta, Georgia to interview the Defendant subsequent to his detention by Georgia 

officials. (Tr. 37-40). A notary and a jail guard were present at the time that the defendant gave 

his custodial statement. The jail guard was near the door of the room in which the Defendant 

made his statement to the two Jackson Police Officers. (Tr. 98, 106). The notary came in to 

witness the Defendant's signature on the statement. (Tr. 49-50). Neither the jail guard nor the 

notary were produced to testify on behalf of the state at the suppression hearing (Tr. 32-1 16). 

Defendant asserts that the failure to produce these witnesses is an Agee violation and 

demands the suppression of the alleged statement. Mississippi case law states: 

This hearing is conducted in the absence of the jury. Lee v. State, supra, is 
also authority for the proposition that when, after the State has made out a prima 
facie case as to the voluntariness of the confession and the accused offers 
testimony that violence, threats of violence, or offers of reward induced the 
confession, then the State must offek all the officers who were present when 
the accused was questioned and when the confession was signed, or give an 
adequate reason for the absence of any such witness. See also Holmes v. State, 
21 1 Miss. 436,51 So.2d 755 (1951). 

Agee v. State, 185 So.2d at 673; see also Abram v. State, 606 So.2d 1015 (Miss.1992). 
Emphasis Added. 

Defendant contends that adequate reasons for the absence of the jail guard and the notary 

(who is believed to be a jail guard also) were not provided to the court, necessitating the 

suppression of the alleged statement. The failure of the trial court to suppress the statement 

deprived the Defendant of his right to counsel, right to be free from self incrimination and right 



th th to due process under the 4Ih, 5 6 and 141h Amendments of the US.  Constitution and those 

corollary rights under the Mississippi Constitution. 

VI. Trial counsel's case preparation, investigation, and trial performance 
were insufficient and thus ineffective, depriving the Defendant of his 
right to effective assistance of counsel when considered cumulatively. 

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness [of counsel] must be whether 

counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial 

cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 US. 668, 

686, 104 S.Ct. 2052,80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). A defendant must demonstrate that his counsel's 

performance was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense of the case. Id. at 687, 

104 S.Ct. 2052." Cited in Burns v. State, 913 So.2d 668 (Miss. 2001). 

Defendant alleges that the following failings of trial counsel before and during trial 

constituted a breach of trial counsel's duty to adequately represent the Defendant and resulted in 

a materially different outcome of the case than if the duty had been met. A remand for 

evidentiary hearing on the following issues is requested by the Defendant. Defendant alleges via 

his attached sworn affidavit that trial counsel: 

A. Failed to object to the original detention of the Defendant based on the Rankin 

County traffic warrants. These warrants were used as a pretextual method of detention of 

the Defendant in Georgia. Subsequent to his detention by Georgia officials on the 

Mississippi traffic ticket warrants, evidence that was used at trial against the Defendant 

was gathered. A grant of this motiori would have let! to the suppression of evidence 

gathered thereafter as fruit of the poisonous tree. Remand for an evidentiary hearing is 

requested on this issue. 



B. Failed to investigate the Defendant's alibi. Remand for an evidentiary hearing is  

requested on this issue 

C. Failed to interview crime scene witnesses Reed & Hearon. Remand for an 

evidentiary hearing is requested on this issue 

D. Failed to view the potentially exculpatory video tape from the store next to the 

business where the homicide occurred described in Exhibit A to the Affidavit of 

Defendant. Remand for an evidentiary hearing is requested on this issue 

E. Failed to object to introduction of other crimes evidence of desertion, the suspected 

offense of fraudulent SS card, license plate. Remand for an evidentiary hearing is 

requested on this issue 

F. Failed to object and move for mistrial after the prosecutor called the defendant a 

shyster and con artist. This issue is briefed below 

G. Informed the Court that the Defendant had allegedly confessed the murder to counsel. 

This issue is briefed in the preceding assignments of error which contain the law and 

argument on this issue. 

The combination of these errors by counsel acted cumulatively to prejudice the 

Defendant in the eyes of the jury, depriving him of a fair trial. Mississippi's Courts have said: 

"at a minimum, counsel has a duty to interview potential witnesses and to make 
independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Nealy v. 
Cabana, 764 F.2d 1173, 1177 (5th Cir.1985) (emphasis added). See also, Bell v. 
Watkins, 692 F.2d 999, 1009 (5th (5.1982); Rummel v. Estelle, 590 F.2d 103, 
104 (5th Cir.1979). It appears to us that trial counsel made little or no effort to 
conduct an independent investigation; rather, he seems to have relied almost 
exclusively on material furnished to him by the state during discovery. 

Ferguson v. State, 507 So.2d 94, (Miss. 1987). 



Defendant asserts that trial counsel's performance was deficient in the preceding 

manners and that these deficiencies prejudiced the defense of the case resulting at a 

different outcome at trial. It is necessary for the Defendant to be able to supplement the 

record with additional findings of fact that can only be obtained by remand for 

evidentiary hearing in this matter. Respectfully, Defendant believes he has made a prima 

facie showing of ineffectiveness and remand for evidentiary hearing is justified. 

Because of the above errors, the Defendant was denied his rights to due process 

and effective assistance of counsel under the 5", 5& and 14 '~  Amendments of the US 

Constitution and those corollary rights under the Mississippi Constitution. 

VII. The trial court erred in not granting a mistrial after the prosecutor 
repeatedly called the defendant a shyster and con artist. 

During the state's closing arguments, the prosecutor twice referred to the Defendant as a 

"shyster" and "con artist". (Tr. 590, 594). This was done solely to inflame and prejudice the 

jury against the Defendant and was not based on any facts in the record. In addressing this issue, 

the following standard applies: 

The standard of review that appellate courts must apply to lawyer misconduct 
during opening statements or closing arguments is whether the natural and 
probable effect of the improper argument is to create unjust prejudice against the 
accused so as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created. 

Slaughter v. State, 815 So.2d 1122 (7 45) (Miss.2002) 

Unfortunately in these two incidences, trial counsel did not object. However, an 

objection is not always required to preserve the error for appeal: 

"[Wlhere appellant cites numerous instances of improper and prejudicial 
conduct by the prosecutor, this Court has not been constrained from considering 
the merits of the alleged prejudice by the fact that objections were made and 
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sustained, or that no objections were made." Smith v. State, 457 So.2d 327,333- 
34 (Miss.1984). 

Davis v. State, 2006 W L  3593210 (Miss.App. 2006). Emphasis Added. 

Defendant argues that these statements were not based on any facts shown in evidence 

and rose to the level of denying the Defendant a fundamentally fair trial as guaranteed by the 5a 

6Ih and 14'~ Amendments of the U S .  Constitution and those corollary rights under the 

Mississippi Constitution 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Defendant believes that he was denied his constitutional 

rights to counsel and his constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial. Respectfully, the 

Defendant prays for this court to reverse and render this case. Alternatively, he requests a 

reversal for a new trial with new trial counsel and a new trier of law. 

Respectllly submitted, 

WILLIAM SCOTT 

J. CHRISTOPHER KLOTZ ( M B ~  
JOSHUA A. TURNER (I 
COXWELL & ASSOCIATEZ 
500 NORTH STATE STREET 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 
TELEPHONE: (601) 948- 1600 



Appendix 1 To Appellant's Brief 

Defendant's Affidavit 



AFFIFAVIT OF FACTS 

PERSONALLY CAME AND APPEARED BEFORE ME, the undersigned WILLIAM 

SCOTT, who on his oath states the following: 

1 .) That on or about December 23,2003, Mr. Mike Knapp visited me at the 

Hinds Country Detention Center. I informed him of my decision to fight the 

case after several attempts by him to take a plea bargain for life in prison. 

After stating my decision, Mr. Knapp stated that if we started filing motions, 

the state would not take any deals and they would seek the death penalty. 

That on or about January 14,2004, I wrote Mr. Knapp requesting him to file a 

Motion to Suppress and inquired about findings of my roommates and the 

Cobb County Correctional officer who was at my March 24,2002, 

interrogation. I also requested a transcript of Tamika Wray's interrogation. 

That on February 10, 2004, I wrote the Mississippi Bar about client-lawyer 

confidentiality being broken. 

That on or about February 29,2004, I wrote the Mississippi Bar giving details 

about Tom Furtner and Mike Kapp's reluctance to investigate my case. 

That on or about March 17,2004,I mailed letters to Honorable Judge Green, 

Mr. Fortner, and Mr. Knapp requesting a change of counsel. 

That on or about April 19,2004, Mr. Knapp visited me to inform me that Mr. 

Furtner would not let him off of my case and that he does not investigate a 

cases until two to three weeks before trial. 



That on or about May 2,2004, I wrote Mr. Knapp requesting information on  

witnesses, evidence, and the Suppression Motion. I also declined to take a 

mental evaluation. 

That on or about May 5,2004, an order for mental evaluation was filed by 

Mr. Knapp without my knowledge and against my request. 

That on or about June 7, 2004,I filed a Motion to Substitute Counsel for lack 

of communication, failure to interview or investigate witnesses, and failure to 

investigate my case. 

10.) That on or about June 17,2004, Mr. Knapp visited me stating that I was not 

going to get another attorney, that he had not investigated my case, and that 

they usually ignore mail from inmates. 

11.) That on or about August 10,2004, I had filed a pro se Motion to Compel 

Discovery requesting several missing items from the Discovery including a 

video tape that could place the correct arrival of both Mr. Antone Reed and 

Mr. Curtis Hearon. This video tape was handled by detective Allen White. 

Mr. Knapp also visited me requesting me to take a mental evaluation. I then 

showed him a time line chart proving my innocence, only for him to say that, 

"time in my case is not important". Thereby dismissing this line of plausible 

defense 

12.) That on or about August 12, 2004, Mr. Knapp visited Mr. Scott stating that he 

still had not investigated my case and that he did not have the time to 

properly work on my case. He then said that he would support my motion to  

substitute counsel. 

13.) That on or about August 17,2004, Mr. Knapp visited me and informed me 

that the State would not seek the death penalty and that the trial was pushed 

back because Judge Green was not prepared to go to trial yet. I was also told 



that he did not have time to go and look for the video tape and that he could 

not subpoena anyone of state. He also had not yet investigated my case. 

That on or about September 16,2004, I received a letter from Mr. Knapp 

stating that he had drafted a motion to suppress, subpoena a handwriting 

expert, had to subpoena my cell phone records, and that he would file more 

motions. 

15.) That on or about November 1,2004, I wrote Judge Green about Mr. Knapp's 

reluctance to investigate my case. 

16.) That on or about January 14,2005,I wrote Judge Green requesting a hearing 

date be set for substitution of counsel. 

17.) That on or about March 24,2005, Mr. Knapp visited me stating that he had 

not investigated my case, that he had just filed a motion to withdraw, that he 

had not looked for either the Cobb County Correctional Officer or Ms. Cheryl 

McDonald. He also stated again that he could not subpoena anyone out of 

state. 

18.) That on or about March 25, 2005 Mr. Knapp stated that it was too late to ask 

the State for the video tape, and that I was not allowed to attend the Ex-parte 

Hearing between him and Judge Green. 

19.) That on or about March 3 1,2005, Mr. Knapp did tell me that I could win my 

case on Appeal if I raised ineffective counseling before the conclusion of 

trial. He also refused to use the time line I had requested him to use, and that 

he would be forced to withdraw after the trial. 

20.) That on or about March 28,2005, Mr. Knapp had still not located or sought 

after the 91 1 recording of the July 9,2002, emergency call that Mr. Antonie 

Reed made. This Recording was to be used to place what time Mr. Reed had 

arrived. Mr. Knapp had told me that he would have this by trial. 



21 .) That on or about March 28,2005, Mr. Knapp had failed to interview, 

investigate, or subpoena Mr. Curtis Hearon, who was proven to be the first 

person at the crime scene, and could have been a possible suspect. 

22.) That on or about March 28,2005, Mr. Knapp refused to ask for a continuance 

after detective Denson started in his testimony that detective White's mother 

was in the emergency room. Detective Allen White's suppressed testimony 

contracted detective Keith Denson's testimony, and that this testimony was 

not placed in front of the jury. 

23.) That at no time or date, did I tell imply or confess to Mr. Knapp everyone else 

that I was guilty of this crime. Mr. Knapp never informed me that he told the 

judge in her chambers 1 had allegedly confessed to the crime. If I had known 

my lawyer did this I would have fired him on the spot. I had no knowledge of 

this until the 2 transcripts of the sealed hearings were made for appeal. Had I 

known I would have in I would have invoked the attorney client privilege and 

instructed him not to discuss anything he and I may have talked about, even if 

what he was saying I said was not true. 

24.) That at no time or date, that Mr. Knapp informed me that he requested any 

continuances. He stated that all continuances were from Honorable Judge 

Green because she was not prepared for trial. 

25.) That on or about July 23, 2002, detective Allen White of the Jackson Police 

Department did promise to have my Georgia criminal charges dismissed if I 

signed the alleged confession. This act was heard and witnesses by Cobb 

County Detention Center NotarylDeputy Cheryl McDonald. She also could 

have noticed the other unknown named jail guard present and the fact that I 

did not have time to read over the said alleged confession because signing it 

because of Detective White's obstruction of the various papers and that he 



instructed that there was not enough time to read them because of the jail shift 

change occurring. The Georgia criminal charges were dismissed on either 

July 24,2002 or July 25, 2002. 

I have read the contents of this Affidavit and hereby state that all facts herein are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief 

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE this the @day  of^&. ,2007. 

WILLIAM G. 

4h 
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEPORT ME, this the *day  of^^ 2007. 



instructed that there was not enough time to read them because of the jail shift 

change occurring. The Georgia criminal charges were dismissed on either 

July 24,2002 or July 25,2002. 

I have read the contents of this Affidavit and hereby state that all facts herein are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief 

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE this the p d a y  0f~&2007, 

i h  
SWORN TO AND SUBSCRLBED BEFORE ME, this the kday o&& 2007. 
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